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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA

ROBERT H. BRAVER, an individual,
Plaintiff,
Vs,

AMERIQUEST MORTGAGE COMPANY,
a Delaware corporation, INNOVATIVE
MARKETING, INC., d/b/a LEAD
EXTREME, a Washington corporation, THE
LOAN PAGE, INC., a Delaware
corporation, STECROFT HOLDINGS, INC.,
as successor in interest to GO APPLY, INC.,
d/b/a ELEADZ, a Nevada corporation,
JOHN DOES 1-50, MI SOLUTIONS, INC.,
a California corporation, LEAD
ASSOCIATION CORP, a California
corporation, THE LEAD SOURCE, INC., a
California corporation, COMMISSION
JUNCTION, INC., a Delaware corporation,
AVALON TRADING COMPANY, LLC, a
California corporation, IMPACT WEB
ENTERPRISES, INC,, a California
corporation, LEAD2.NET, INC.,, a Florida
corporation, SUNBURN MARKETING
GROUP, LLC, a California limited liability
company, MONEYNEST HOLDINGS,
INC., a California Corporation,
INTERNATIONAL WEBWORKS.COM,
LLC, a Colorado limited lability company,
NICK HETCHER, an individual, LIBERTY
LEAD SOURCE, INC, a Nevada
corporation, TIM FAUST, an individual,
DOTCOM MARKETING GROUP,INC., a
Florida corporation, INETMEDIA, a
California corporation, LEADCORP, a
California corporation, LEAD TRANSFER,
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,
ABACUS ENTERPRISES, INC., a
California corporation, TANDAX, INC,, a
Washington corporation

Defendants.

AMERIQUEST MORTGAGE COMPANY,
a Delaware corporation,

Cross-Complainant,
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V.

INNOVATIVE MARKETING, INC. d/b/a
LEAD EXTREME, a Washington
Corporation; VISIUM SOLUTIONS
CORPORATION, a Florida corporation; and
PROFESSIONAL EQUITY MARKETING,
a California Corporation, and ROES 1-50,
inclusive,

Cross-Defendant.

DEFENDANT AMERIQUEST MORTGAGE COMPANY’S MOTION TO DISMISS
PLAINTIFF ROBERT H. BRAVER’S THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT

Defendant Ameriquest Mortgage Company (“Ameriquest”), by and through its counsel of
record, hereby moves to dismiss Counts I and IV in Plaintiff Robert H. Braver’s (“Plaintiff” or
“Braver”) Third Amended Complaint for violations of Oklahoma’s Fraudulent Use of Electronic
Mail Statutes (15 O.S. §§ 776.1-776.4) and Unsolicited Electronic Mail Statutes (15 O.S. §§

776.5-776.7).

I. INTRODUCTION.

Plaintiff cannot recover against Ameriquest under either of Oklahoma’s anti-spam
statutes for the simple reason that Ameriquest did not send any of the e-mails at issue in this
case. Although the Federal Can-Spam Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7701 et seq., makes it unlawful to
“procure™ an email that violates the Act, Oklahoma’s anti-spam statutes do not. Unlike the
Federal Act, the Oklahoma states unequivocally state that the serder of the e-mail is the only
person who may be liable for violations of those Acts. Ameriquest cannot be liable under an
agency theory either because the unidentified senders of the e-mails are not agents of
Ameriquest. Since Plaintiff admits in the Third Amended Complaint (“Amended Complaint”)
that Ameriquest did not send the subject e-mails to him and there is no agency relationship

between the senders of the e-mail and Ameriquest, he is barred from recovering against
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Ameriquest under either of the Oklahoma Acts. Accordingly, Ameriquest respectfully requests
an order dismissing Counts Il and IV in the Amended Complaint as to Ameriquest.

1L FACTUAL BACKBROUND.

A. Ameriguest Does Not Send E-Mail Selicitations.

Ameriquest is a retail mortgage lender headquartered in Orange, California. [Amended
Complaint, § 69]. Ameriquest does not send e-mails to solicit mortgage business, nor does it
instruct third parties to send e-mails on its behalf. As a small part of its marketing efforts,
Ameriquest from time to time purchases customer leads from third party lead vendors who
accumulate these leads through a variety of ways, one of which is e-mail solicitation.
Ameriquest purchases these leads pursuant to lead purchase agreements entered into between
Ameriquest and the third party lead vendors. The older versions of the lead purchase agreements
expressly required the lead generator to comply with all applicable state and federal laws and
regulations, including federal and state laws regulating commercial e-mail solicitations. With the
advent of the Federal CAN-Spam Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7701 ef seq. (“CAN-Spam Act”), and state
anti-spam legislation, the more recent lead purchase agreements were revised to set forth the
specific requirements of the CAN-Spam Act and explicitly prohibit lead generators from
violating it or any other applicable anti-spam legislation. In both the older and more recent lead
purchase agreements, the lead vendor is required to indemnify Ameriquest for any violations of
such laws.

Ameriquest does not instruct or direct lead vendors to send e-mails, it simply contracts
with these companies to purchase leads. The lead vendors are not agents or employees of
Ameriquest and do not send out e-mails or advertise on Ameriquest’s behalf. Rather, these

companies place advertisements and/or have their own third party vendors send out generic e-
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mails inquiring whether recipients are interested in obtaining a mortgage loan. If the lead vendor
or its third party vendor receives a response from the recipient, the lead vendor independently
determines which of its clients may be an appropriate user of the lead.

B. Braver’s Efforts to Spawn This Litigation.

Plaintiff Robert Braver claims to be an internet service provider operating out of
Oklahoma. [Amended Complaint, { 2]. He is a professional litigant who has brought numerous
lawsuits claiming violation of Oklahoma and Federal laws prohibiting unlawful spam.

To generate this particular litigation, Braver responded to generic e-mail solicitations
regarding mortgage loans (none of which even mention Ameriquest) which he claims were sent
through his server in Oklahoma. To further his cause, Braver provided fake names and
telephone numbers in response to the e-mails, pretending to be individuals interested in a
mortgage loan. [Amended Complaint, § 79-119]. At some later point in time, some of the fake
names provided by Braver were sold to Ameriquest in the form of customer leads (not e-mails).
Believing these individuals were actually interested in a mortgage loan, Ameriquest contacted
them to follow up on their inquiries for a loan. [Amended Complaint, §§ 79-119]. Although ke

admits throughout the Amended Complaint that none of these emails were sent by Ameriquest,

based upon these telephone contacts, Braver is now seeking to make Ameriquest liable for e-
mails it never sent. [Amended Complaint, g 79-119].

IHl. PLAINTIFF CANNOT RECOVER AGAINST AMERIQUEST FOR

VIOLATIONS OF THE OKLAHOMA STATUTES.

Knowing full well that Ameriquest does not send e-mail solicitations itself, Plaiatiff has
cobbled together a legal theory that Ameriquest is liable for having “procured” fake customer

leads in response to email solicitations sent by unidentified parties. Although the Federal Can-

BN 784781v1



Case 5:04-cv-01013-W  Document 280 Filed 02/24/2006 Page 5 of 11

Spam Act recognizes that a party may be liable for procuring emails that violate that Act, no
such “procurement” liability exists under either of Oklahoma’s anti-spam Acts.

A. The Federal Can-Spam Act’s Procurement Provision.

The Federal Can-Spam Act of 2003, 15 U.S.C. § 7701 et seq. (“CAN-Spam Act”) makes
it unlawful to “procure” an email that violates that Act. For the purposes of a civil action
brought by an internet service provider, the Act defines “procure” as:

“intentionally to pay or provide other consideration to, or provide
other consideration to, or induce, another person to initiate such a
message on one’s behalf....with actual knowledge, or by

consciously avoiding knowing, whether such person is engaging,
or will engage, in a pattern or practice that violates this Act.”

[15 U.S.C. § 7702(12) and § 7706(g)2)]. Thus, to prove that the defendant “procured” an
offending e-mail under the Pederal Act, an internet service provider must establish (1) the
defendant intentionally paid or induced another person to initiate a message on the defendant’s
behalf, and (2) that the defendant actually knew, or consciously avoided knowing that, the
sender was engaged in a pattern and practice of violating the Act.  Unable to allege that
Ameriquest actually sent the e-mails which are the subject of this lawsuit, Braver instead
contends that Ameriquest is liable for having “procured” them, as that term is defined in the Act.
B. There Is No Procurement Liability Under The Oklahoma Acts.

Setting aside, for the purpose of this motion, that Ameriquest did not “procure” the
subject e-mails as defined in the CAN-Spam Act, Braver is barred from recovering under
Oklahoma law because there is no parallel “procurement” liability under either of the State’s
anti-spam Acts. To the contrary, both of the state statutes make clear that the sender of the e-
mail is the only person who may be liable for violations of either of the Acts.

The relevant portions of the Oklahoma Acts provide as follows:
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“[i]t shall be unlawful for a person to inifiate an electronic mail
message that the sender knows or has reason to know....” OKLA.
STAT. tit. 15 § 776.1(A) (emphasis added)’

“It shall be a violation of this act for any person to transmit a
commercial electronic mail message that....” OKLA. STAT. tit. 15
§ 776.6(A) states (emphasis added).

“[i]t shall be a violation of this action for any person that sends an
a commercial electronic mail message.... * OKLA. STAT. tit. 15 §
776.6(B) (emphasis added)

“[i]t shall be a violation of this act for any person that sends an
unsolicited commercial electronic mail message....” OKLA. STAT.
tit. 15 § 776.6(B)(C)(D)E) (emphasis added);

Indeed, Braver clearly knows there is no “procurement” liability under these statutes as
he does not even allege in the Amended Complaint that Ameriquest “procured” the emails in
violation of the Oklahoma Acts. Since he cannot show that Ameriquest sent the e-mails to him,
or that it is liable for having “procured” them under the Oklahoma statutes, Braver cannot as a

matter of law recover under either of the state Acts.?

C. Ameriquest Cannot Be Liable Under The Oklahoma Acts Under An Agency
Theory Either.

To save his state law claims, Plaintiff will likely argue that Ameriquest is liable under the

! “Initiate” is defined as “the action of the original sender of an electronic mail message....” Okla. Stat.
tit. 15, § 776.4(3) (emphasis added).

2 1n a final effort to save these claims, Plaintiff may invite the Court to read “procurement” liability into
the Oklahoma Acts. It is, however, presumed in Oklahoma that the legislature has expressed its intent in
a statute and that it intended what it is expressed. In the Matter of the Estate of Villines, 2005 OK 63, 122
P.3d 466, 470 (2005) (citing Nealis v. Baird, 1999 OK 98, 996 P.2d 1107, 1119 0. 17); see also Fuller v.
Odom, 1987 OK 64, 741 P.2d 449, 453 (1987) and Duncan v. Oklahoma Department of Corrections,
2004 QK 58, 95 P.3d 1076 (2004) (citing Fulsom, supra). (“it is not within the realm of this Court’s
power, under the guise of statutory interpretation or construction, to do what the Legislature has failed to
express in its legislation.”). Only the legislatare can change, amend or modify its expressed intent in a
statate. Copeland v. Copeland, 1992 OK 154, 842 P.2d 754 (1992) (citing Anschutz Corp. v. Sanders,
734 P.2d 1290, 1292 (Okla. 1987, McVicker v. Board of County Comm’rs, 442 P.2d 297, 302 (Okla.
1968); and Oklahoma Alcoholic Beverage Control Bd v. Central Liquor Co., 421 P.2d 244, 248 (Okla.
1966). Had the Oklahoma legislature intended to establish “procurement” liability under the Acts, it
would have simply said so in the Acts themselves. Since it did not, and since Ameriquest cannot
otherwise be liable under the acts, those claims should be dismissed from this action as a matter of law.

6
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state Acts on the grounds that the senders of the e-mails are its agents. However, PlainGff has
alleged no facts in the Amended Complaint to prove that an agency relationship exists.
Moreover, in truth and fact, Ameriquest does not know the identity of the sender, when or if an
e-mail is sent, or even if the leads it purchases are generated by e-mails in the first place.
Ameriquest cannot be the principal of an agent it does not even know exists.”

1IV. CONCLUSION.

Based on the foregoing, Defendant Ameriquest Mortgage Company respectfully requests
that the Court enter an order granting its motion to dismiss Counts Il and IV in Plaintiff Robert
H. Braver’s Third Amended Complaint for violations of Oklahoma’s Fraudulent Use of
Electronic Mail Statutes (15 O.S. §§ 776.1-776.4) and Unsolicited Electronic Mail Statutes (15
0.8, §§ 776.5-776.7):

DATED: February 24, 2006 By /s/ Kalley R. Aman

MICHAEL J. CERESETO, ESQ.
Bar Number: 56711

KALLEY R. AMAN, ESQ.

Bar Number: 217337
BUCHALTER NEMER

1000 Wilshire Blvd., 15th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90017
Telephone: (213) 891-0700
Facsimile: (213) 896-0400
Email: mcereseto @buchalter.com
Email: kaman@buchalter.com

Robert A. Nance

Bar Number: 6581

Terry D. Kordeliski

Bar Number: 18091

RIGGS, ABNEY, NEAL, TURPEN,
ORBISON & LEWIS

5801 Broadway Extension, Suite 101

* Indeed, Ameriquest has already provided Plaintiffs the names of the lead vendors who sold the subject leads to
Ameriquest. Ameriquest has no additional names.
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Oklahoma City, OK 73118

Tel: (405) 843-9909

Fax: (405) 842-2913

Email: rnance@riggsabney.com
Email: tkordeliski@riggsabney.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT
AMERIQUEST MORTGAGE COMPANY
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This is to certify that on this 24th day of February, 2006, I electronically
transmitted the attached document, DEFENDANT AMERIQUEST MORTGAGE
COMPANY’S MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF ROBERT H. BRAVER’S
THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT to the Clerk of Court using the ECF system for
filing the transmittal of a Notice of Electronic Filing to the following registrants:

SEE ATTACHED LIST

Dated: February 24, 2006 By:

/s/ Kallev R. Aman

MICHAEL J. CERESETO, ESQ.
Bar Number: 56711

KALLEY R. AMAN, ESQ.

Bar Number: 217337
BUCHALTER NEMER

1000 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1500
Los Angeles, California 90017-2457
Telephone: (213) 891-0700
Facsimile: (213) 896-0400

Email: mcereseto @buchalter.com
Email: kaman@buchalter.com

Robert A. Nance

Bar Number: 6581

Terry D. Kordeliski

Bar Number: 18091

RIGGS. ABNEY, NEAL, TURPEN,
ORBISON & LEWIS

5801 Broadway Extension, Suite 101
Oklahoma City, OK 73118

Tel: (405) 843-9909

Fax: (405) 842-2913

Email: mance@riggsabney.com
Email: tkordeliski@riggsabney.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT
AMERIQUEST MORTGAGE COMPANY
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SERVICE LIST

Michael R. McKee

330 W. Gray, Suite 180

Norman, Oklahoma, 73069

Attorney for the Plaintiff

mike @mckeelawfirm.com

Attorney for Plaintiff, Robert H. Braver

Phillip L. Free, Jr.

Marte S. Johnston

Crowe & DUNLEVY, P.C.

20 North Broadway, Suite 1800
Oklahoma City, OK 73102
freephil@crowedunlevy.com
Johnston @crowedunlevy.com
Attorneys for Defendant, Innovative
Marking, Inc. d/b/a Lead Extreme

Terry D. Kordeliski

Robert Nance

RIGGS, ABNEY, NEAL, TURPEN, ORBISON,
LEWIS

5801 N. Broadway Avenue, Suite 101
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73118
Tel: (405) 843-9909

Fax: (405) 842-2913
mance@riggsabnev.com

tkordeliski @riggsabnev.com
Attorneys for Defendant, Ameriquest
Mortgage Company
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David Humphreys

Luke J. Wallace

HUMPHREYS WALLACE HUMPHREYS
1724, East 15" Street

Tulsa, OK 74101

(918) 747-5300

(918) 747 5311

David@hwh-law.com

Luke @hwh-law.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Robert H. Braver

Steven I. Adams, Okla. Bar #142
John I}, Russell, Okla. Barf#/13343
FELLERS, SNIDER, BLANKENSHIP, BAILEY &
TipPENS, P.C.

The Kennedy Building

321 South Boston Avenue, Suite 800
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74103-3318

Tel: (918) 599-0621

Fax: (918) 583-9659

sadams @fellerssnider.com
jrussell@fellerssnider.com

Attorneys for Defendants, Go Apply, Inc.
and The Loan Page, Inc.

Patrick Gunn, Bar #172258

Courtney Nguyen, Calif. Bar #221256

COOLEY GODWARD LLP

101 California Street, 5th Floor

San Prancisco, CA 94111-5800

Tel: (415) 693-2386

Fax: (415)693-2222
sunn@cooley.com

cnguven@cooley.com

Attorneys for Defendants, Go Apply, Inc.

and The Loan Page, Inc.
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SERVICE LIST

Robert D. Tomlinson, OBA #9056
MCKINNEY & STRINGER, P.C.

101 N. Robinson, Suite 1300
Oklahoma City, OK 73102

Tel: (405) 239-6444

Fax: (405)239-7902
tomlinsonr@mckinneystringer.com
Attorneys for Defendant, MI Solutions,
Inc.

Arthur F. Hoge UIl, OBA #4275
Brinda K. White, OBA #9535
MEE, MEE, HOGE, PLLP

50 Penn Place

1900 NW Expressway, Suite 1400
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73118
Tel: (405) 848-9100

Fax: (405) 848-9101
afhose@meechoge.com

bkw @meehoge.com

Attorneys for Defendant, Lead Association,
Inc.

Nick Hetcher
N&30 Pond Rd.
Marinette, W1 54143

Lance E. Schneiter

TOMLINSON & O'CONNELL, P.C.

Two Leadership Square, Suite 450

211 N. Robinson

Oklahoma City, OK 73102

Tel: (405) 606-3355

Fax: (866) 633-6165

lances @tomiinsonoconnell.com
Attorney for MoneyNest Holdings, Inc.
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Derek A. Newman, BAR #26967

Venkat Balasubramani

505 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 610

Seattle, WA 98104

Tel: (206) 274-2800

Fax: (206)274-2801
derck@newmanlaw.com
venkat@newmanlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant, lead Transfer,
LIC

Charles L. “Chad” McELawhorn, TII
McAfee & Taft

Two Leadership Square, 10th Floor

211 North Robinson

Oklahoma City, OK 73102-7103

Tel: (405) 552-2326

Chad.mclawhorn @mcafeetaft.com
Attorney for, The Wisdom Companies,
LLC f/k/a Sunburn Marketing Group, LL.C

Richard .. Rose

Miller Dollarhide

100 Park Avenue, Second Floor
Oklahoma City, OK 73102-8099
Tel: (405) 236-8541

Fax: (405) 235-8130
rrose@millerdolarhide.com

Attorney for Plaintiff, Web

Enterprises, Inc.

Impact



